



DEEP BOREHOLE DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE: NEXT STEPS AND APPLICABILITY TO NATIONAL PROGRAMS

BY DR. PETER SWIFT AND DR. ANDREW NEWMAN NOVEMBER 2022

ABOUT THE CENTER ON GLOBAL ENERGY POLICY

The Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA advances smart, actionable and evidence-based energy and climate solutions through research, education and dialogue. Based at one of the world's top research universities, what sets CGEP apart is our ability to communicate academic research, scholarship and insights in formats and on timescales that are useful to decision makers. We bridge the gap between academic research and policy complementing and strengthening the world-class research already underway at Columbia University, while providing support, expertise, and policy recommendations to foster stronger, evidence-based policy. Recently, Columbia University President Lee Bollinger announced the creation of a new Climate School — the first in the nation — to tackle the most urgent environmental and public health challenges facing humanity.

Visit us at www.energypolicy.columbia.edu

🛉 🔰 🗽 @ColumbiaUEnergy

ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS

SIPA's mission is to empower people to serve the global public interest. Our goal is to foster economic growth, sustainable development, social progress, and democratic governance by educating public policy professionals, producing policy-related research, and conveying the results to the world. Based in New York City, with a student body that is 50 percent international and educational partners in cities around the world, SIPA is the most global of public policy schools.

For more information, please visit www.sipa.columbia.edu

For a full list of financial supporters of the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA, please visit our website at https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/partners. See below a list of members that are currently in CGEP's Visionary Annual Circle. This list is updated periodically.

Air Products Anonymous Jay Bernstein Breakthrough Energy LLC Children's Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF) Occidental Petroleum Corporation Ray Rothrock Kimberly and Scott Sheffield Tellurian Inc.

The cover illustration is a representative photograph of a typical oil and gas drilling rig and is not meant to imply either a specific drill rig design or a specific location for testing.



DEEP BOREHOLE DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE: NEXT STEPS AND APPLICABILITY TO NATIONAL PROGRAMS

BY DR. PETER SWIFT AND DR. ANDREW NEWMAN NOVEMBER 2022

Columbia University CGEP 1255 Amsterdam Ave. New York, NY 10027 energypolicy.columbia.edu



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report represents the research and views of the authors. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Center on Global Energy Policy. The piece may be subject to further revision.

Contributions to SIPA for the benefit of CGEP are general use gifts, which gives the Center discretion in how it allocates these funds. More information is available at <u>https://energypolicy.</u> <u>columbia.edu/about/partners</u>. Rare cases of sponsored projects are clearly indicated.

The authors are grateful for constructive reviews of preliminary drafts of this paper by Matt Bowen and multiple anonymous reviewers. Financial support for earlier unpublished work on these topics by both authors was provided by the Nuclear Threat Initiative. As noted in the citations, both authors recognize the extensive and ongoing contributions to the field by numerous researchers, including the team at Sandia National Laboratories of which Peter Swift was previously a member.



ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Dr. Peter Swift is a consulting geoscientist with over 30 years of experience in radioactive waste disposal. He was formerly a Senior Scientist at Sandia National Laboratories in Albuquerque, New Mexico, where he served as the National Technical Director of the Department of Energy's Office of Nuclear Energy Spent Fuel and Waste Science and Technology R&D Campaign and its predecessor, the Used Fuel Disposition Campaign, from 2011 until 2020. He has worked on evaluating the technical basis for both the Waste Isolation Pilot Plant in New Mexico and the proposed Yucca Mountain repository in Nevada, where he was the manager of the Total System Performance Assessment and then subsequently the Lead Laboratory's Chief Scientist during the preparation and submittal of the DOE's 2008 License Application to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. He also has experience in oil and gas exploration.

Dr. Swift received a Ph.D. in Geosciences from the University of Arizona in 1987, Master's and Bachelor's degrees in Geology from the University of Wyoming in 1982 and 1980, and a B.A. in English from Yale University in 1974.

Dr. Andrew Newman has more than 15 years experience in the public policy aspects of the back end of the nuclear fuel cycle. He was formerly Senior Director for Nuclear Fuel Cycle Activities at the Nuclear Threat Initiative (NTI) in Washington, DC where he led NTI's coordination of the Pacific Rim Spent Fuel Management Partnership Working Group, an ongoing R&D collaboration consisting of government and laboratory waste management experts from six countries. He was a Senior Non-Resident Fellow with the Institute for International Science and Technology Policy at George Washington University from 2019 to 2020. Prior to NTI he worked with the Project on Managing the Atom at Harvard University and in the Nuclear Science and Technology Office at the Australian Embassy in Washington, DC. He is the lead author of Decision-making and Radioactive Waste Disposal (Routledge, 2016).

Dr. Newman received a Ph.D. in Political Science (a critical evaluation of US programs designed to prevent 'leakage' of nuclear weapons, materials and expertise from the former Soviet Union) from Monash University in Melbourne, Australia in 2001.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	06
Introduction	08
Research Gaps Facing Deep Borehole Disposal	10
Summary of Deep Borehole Disposal Concepts to Date	12
Candidate Wastes for Deep Borehole Disposal	14
Designing a Borehole RD&D Project with Broad International Relevance	16
Applicability of Borehole Disposal	19
Sociopolitical and Economic Considerations	19
Security and Nonproliferation Considerations	19
Conclusions	22
References	23



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Deep borehole disposal of high-level radioactive waste has been proposed repeatedly and in multiple countries over the last several decades, but the concept remains unproven in the field. A straightforward research, development, and demonstration test program could provide answers to basic questions about the viability of the concept. This program would involve the construction of two or perhaps more boreholes to test disposal concepts using surrogate, nonradioactive waste. Field tests would focus on the engineering and operational feasibility of deep borehole disposal, the availability of favorable rock types at depth, appropriate designs for waste forms and waste packaging, and the long-term performance of borehole repositories. Because of the scale of the project, it might best be undertaken as an international collaboration, perhaps led by the US Department of Energy but with participation from multiple national programs to ensure it meets a wide range of needs.

Mined geologic repositories, which have been the preferred approach for permanent disposal of high-level radioactive wastes for most national programs for many decades, will likely remain the preferred disposal option for countries with large inventories of commercial spent nuclear fuel. If deep borehole disposal can be demonstrated as a viable concept, however, it may be an attractive alternative disposal option for countries with small inventories of materials requiring permanent geologic isolation. For example, national programs with limited amounts of waste from research or medical isotope production reactors may not need to incur the cost of a full-scale mined repository. Other countries may find borehole disposal a useful option for permanently disposing of small quantities of waste that could otherwise pose security risks, including both fissile materials and high-activity sealed radioactive sources used in industrial and medical applications. For programs committed to disposing of large inventories of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste in mined repositories, deep boreholes may provide options for prompt disposal of small volumes of specialty wastes that may otherwise have to wait for repository construction.

This report reviews the borehole disposal concepts proposed to date, identifies potentially suitable waste forms worldwide, and proposes a field-testing program that could resolve many remaining technical questions and inform future programmatic decisions. The report also summarizes the potential benefits of borehole disposal in terms of public acceptance, cost, and security. The main takeaways from this report are the following:

- For countries such as the US with large inventories of spent nuclear fuel and vitrified high-level radioactive waste, mined repositories remain the best disposal option.
- If technical feasibility and safety are demonstrated, boreholes could provide a complementary disposal pathway for small, highly radioactive waste forms in the US and other countries when mined repositories are not available.
- If technical feasibility and safety are demonstrated, boreholes could also provide a cost-effective and safe alternative to mined repositories for countries with nascent or

small nuclear power programs, particularly those with limited financial, institutional, technical, and/or geographic resources.

- If boreholes prove viable technically, economically, and sociopolitically in countries where they may be preferable to mined repositories, getting spent fuel into the ground more quickly provides significant security and nonproliferation benefits, particularly in politically unstable regions of the world.
- The authors propose a multinational two-phase borehole field test program, performed sequentially or in parallel, with nonradioactive surrogate waste materials to address unresolved technical questions related to engineering feasibility and host rock performance.
- Such a collaborative research, development, and demonstration project could help decision makers in participating (and observing) countries determine whether borehole disposal is an appropriate disposal method for a portion or all of their high-activity radioactive waste inventory.

INTRODUCTION

Beginning with work in the US in the 1950s (NAS 1957), most national nuclear programs have viewed mined repositories as the preferred approach for permanently disposing of high-level radioactive waste. Such repositories have been studied intensively, with sites identified and characterized in multiple countries and extensive underground research conducted over decades. For countries that have large inventories of spent nuclear fuel from nuclear power reactors or large amounts of high-level waste from defense programs or commercial reprocessing, mined repositories very likely remain the best option, despite the slow progress in licensing and constructing such facilities.

One alternative to such repositories that is worthy of further consideration is deep boreholes. Unlike mined repositories, deep borehole disposal concepts remain untested in the field despite having been proposed since at least the early 1970s (Schneider and Platt 1974; USDOE 1980; Juhlin and Sandstedt 1989; MIT 2003; Gibb and McTaggart 2008; Brady et al. 2009; US DOE 2015; Muller et al. 2019) and the possibility of implementation still seems remote. If field tests can demonstrate their viability, however, they can represent an attractive alternative to mined repositories for countries with relatively small amounts of radioactive waste requiring deep geologic disposal. Specifically, borehole disposal could avoid some of the high upfront costs and decade-scale lead times required for mined repositories and could prove particularly useful in reducing security and nonproliferation risks associated with small volumes of enriched or high-activity nuclear material in countries without nuclear defense programs.

A note on the US context

The authors do not propose that the United States should consider disposing of commercial spent fuel or packaged, high-level defense waste in boreholes. In 2009, Sandia National Laboratories (SNL) estimated that it would require over 950 boreholes, each spaced 200 meters apart to avoid thermally affecting one another, to dispose of a then-projected inventory of 109,300 metric tons of heavy metal comprised of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste (Brady et al. 2009). (This inventory estimate was based on projections used by the US DOE in 2008 [US DOE 2008]; more recent projections suggest that the country's inventory is significantly larger [Peters et al. 2020]). If deployed at a single site, a disposal system of this magnitude could require up to 40 square kilometers (approximately 16 square miles), a footprint significantly larger than that of mined repositories. In addition, spent fuel already in dry storage in the US would need to be removed from canisters and repackaged in smaller dedicated borehole disposal packages (Brady et al. 2009), a step that may potentially be avoided for some mined repository concepts. Boreholes could, however, perhaps provide a complementary disposal pathway for small, specialized waste forms in the US (US DOE 2014). With extensive experience in waste disposal research as well as oil and gas drilling,

continued on next page



This report has two objectives. The first of these is to review the current status of deep borehole disposal concepts and identify research gaps that could be addressed through a well-defined set of field tests. Because such field tests would require a substantial commitment of resources, they might be best performed through international collaboration, perhaps led by the US Department of Energy (DOE). The second objective is to explore the potential sociopolitical, economic, security, and nonproliferation benefits that might lead some countries with relatively small existing and projected inventories of spent fuel, high-level waste, and possibly longlived intermediate-level radioactive waste

continued from previous page

the US could provide critical leadership and state-of-the-art technology to an international research program designed to address both a small but highly radioactive portion of the DOE waste inventory with no current disposition pathway as well as the spent fuel and high-level waste disposal needs of other countries with small volume or similarly problematic waste streams, strengthening the DOE's global nuclear safety and security mission.

to choose boreholes as a cost-effective and safe alternative to mined repositories for their disposal needs. These potential benefits should be considered by decision makers, including those within the US DOE and other national programs, when evaluating the prospect of a multi-year field-testing program.

The authors note that decision makers must also address public opposition to many aspects of nuclear waste management, including, in the US at least, site-specific opposition in the past to deep borehole disposal testing (US DOE 2015). Social and political considerations of nuclear waste disposal are outside the scope of this paper, but public acceptance should be acknowledged as a major, and perhaps the most important, factor in moving forward with any permanent disposal options. Borehole disposal concepts are not unique in this regard and there may be ways for any future program to avoid mistakes of the past while helping to build public confidence in the intent of and technical basis for evaluating options. As discussed below, two of these could be decoupling the two phases of the program and selecting a test drill site known a priori to be unsuitable for disposal.



RESEARCH GAPS FACING DEEP BOREHOLE DISPOSAL

Existing analyses of hypothetical design concepts strongly suggest that if suitable rock can be found and if a borehole can be constructed, operated, and sealed as proposed, borehole disposal may provide excellent long-term isolation of radioactive waste (Brady et al. 2017; Freeze et al. 2019; Deep Isolation 2020). Proposed technologies remain unproven, but most remaining questions could be addressed through a straightforward research, development, and demonstration (RD&D) project. Broadly, these questions fall into two categories: engineering feasibility and the contribution of host rock performance to long-term safety.

• First, is borehole disposal feasible from an engineering and operations perspective? Specifically, can boreholes of an appropriate depth and diameter be constructed using readily available technologies? Can radioactive waste be emplaced in a borehole repository remotely, with sufficient shielding to ensure safe operations? Can boreholes be sealed to ensure permanent isolation? Can all of these operations be done with the extremely high level of reliability and safety required for nuclear activities? Can disposal be reversed during operations, allowing recovery of waste in the event of problems during emplacement?

A note on what deep borehole disposal in this context is not

Borehole disposal concepts discussed here differ in substantive ways from two other types of past and ongoing borehole disposal operations. Specifically, this paper does not address borehole disposal of liquid radioactive wastes, which has been implemented in the past for both lowlevel and high-level wastes (e.g., Stow and Hasse 1986; Kedrovskii et al. 1990). Concepts discussed here are limited to the disposal of solid wastes, and are intended to avoid concerns associated with the mobility of liquid wastes in groundwater. In addition, concepts discussed here do not include disposal of solid low-level and shorter-lived intermediate-level radioactive wastes in relatively shallower boreholes at depths of tens to hundreds of meters. Safe disposal of lower-level and shorter-lived wastes in intermediate-depth boreholes has been demonstrated in multiple locations worldwide (Cochran et al. 2001: IAEA 2011), and the remaining research gaps for intermediate-depth borehole disposal are unlike those facing deep borehole disposal of higher-level wastes.

• Second, can suitable host rocks be found at appropriate depths that will provide high confidence in the long-term performance of disposal systems? Disposal concepts can be designed specifically for available rock types and a variety of waste forms and there may be more than one rock type that provides robust isolation for a given borehole repository design. For some disposal concepts, isolation might rely on siting the facility in extremely low-permeability rock at depths of multiple kilometers, assuming such rocks can be found. In these concepts, the slow rate of radionuclide diffusion



through the host rock and the borehole seals might provide robust isolation with little reliance on the longevity of the waste package and the waste form. In other concepts, long-lived waste packages or durable waste forms might provide a primary part of the isolation system, allowing for disposal at shallower depths or in more permeable rock types. Regardless of the specific details of the disposal concept, suitable rock types need to be identified and tested.

Definitive answers to these questions would allow decision makers to proceed based on the best available information regarding the technical feasibility and long-term safety of borehole disposal. If an RD&D project were designed to encourage international collaboration, national programs would have the opportunity to engage in first-of-a-kind field-based research to test disposal concepts specifically relevant to their waste forms and potential host rocks.



SUMMARY OF DEEP BOREHOLE DISPOSAL CONCEPTS TO DATE

The deep borehole disposal concepts that have been proposed to date all call for emplacing waste in relatively narrow-diameter cylindrical volumes up to thousands of meters long. They also all rely on some combination of natural (i.e., geologic) and engineered barriers to provide long-term isolation of the waste. In general, the primary natural barrier for borehole disposal is the thickness of low-permeability rocks between the waste and the land surface, determined both by depth and rock characteristics. In many concepts, favorable water chemistry at depth is also important because it provides (1) reducing conditions that lower the solubility of most radionuclides and (2) high salinities that both lower the potential for colloidal transport and create a density gradient that helps counter the potential for thermally driven buoyant convection in the borehole or surrounding rock. All borehole disposal concepts rely on the ability to demonstrate the absence of fast flow paths from the disposal zone to the surface. As noted above and by others (e.g., Krall et al. 2020), favorable rock properties and water chemistry at depth cannot be assumed and must be demonstrated independently for each site. Engineered barriers can include durable waste forms (e.g., vitrified, grouted, or hot isostatically pressed wastes), long-lived waste packages, and grouts or buffers to help control permeability and long-term water chemistry in the borehole. Low-permeability permanent seals are an important component of all deep borehole disposal concepts. Although details of local vadose-zone hydrology are essential to shallower disposal concepts in unsaturated rocks and sediments, they are less important for deep disposal far below the water table.

Factors that *discriminate* among proposed deep borehole disposal concepts include the following:

Depth, emplacement geometry, host rock, and reliance on engineered barriers: Over the last roughly two decades, deep borehole disposal has been proposed at depths that range from approximately one km (Muller et al. 2019) to five km (Brady et al. 2009). Emplacement has been proposed in vertical holes, most commonly in crystalline basement rocks at depths of three to five km (Freeze et al. 2019), in inclined holes drilled at depth from a vertical access hole (Gibbs et al. 2011), and in subhorizontal holes drilled in shale and other rock types at depths of one km and greater from a vertical access hole (Crichlow 1998; Muller et al. 2019). The diameter of the proposed boreholes is typically limited by available technology and cost considerations, but in all cases boreholes must be large enough at the disposal horizon to accommodate the proposed waste forms and waste packaging as well as the steel casing that lines the holes. As noted above, one proposed design concept calls for downhole diameters of 445 mm, consistent with current drilling practices and large enough to accommodate waste packages of up to approximately 273 mm in diameter (Arnold et al. 2011). Larger- diameter boreholes may be possible at these depths but have not been demonstrated in current drilling practice (Beswick et al. 2014). Proposed disposal concepts include relatively different levels of reliance on waste form and waste package durability and analyses of vertical emplacement in crystalline basement have shown robust long-term isolation assuming no contribution from waste form or waste package performance. In general, shallower disposal concepts (Muller et al. 2019) are likely to require greater reliance on waste form and package performance.



In the absence of detailed information from engineering demonstration and site-specific characterization data, there is no need to define a priori a preferred depth and design concept for deep borehole disposal. Any disposal concept will need to be evaluated in detail for both operational feasibility and long-term performance before decisions can be made regarding implementation.

Characteristics of the waste selected for disposal: The first characteristic to be considered in identifying waste for a specific borehole disposal concept is its size. Is the waste already in a form that is small enough in geometry to be emplaced in a borehole drilled to the proposed depth using readily available technology? If not, can it be packaged with appropriate dimensions following minimal treatment? Other attributes of the waste must be known in sufficient detail to support safety analyses for a specific design, including radionuclide inventory and bulk chemistry, physical and chemical stability during operational handling, and the long-term performance of the waste form in the disposal environment. For most purposes, though, waste form geometry is likely to be the limiting factor in disposal concept design.

Operational emplacement strategies: Downhole emplacement of the waste packages in a cased borehole has been proposed with multiple approaches using off-the-shelf drilling industry technology. Emplacement in vertical holes can be accomplished with assemblages of multiple waste packages linked together at the end of a continuous column of drilling pipe (drill-string emplacement), or by lowering packages one at a time on a cable (wireline emplacement) (SNL 2016; Hardin et al. 2019). In principle, it could also be done by free fall, with velocity limited by the viscosity of the fluid filling the drill pipe (Bates et al. 2011), but the lack of control over the package during descent makes this a less desirable approach (Beswick et al. 2014). Emplacement in horizontal or subhorizontal boreholes has been proposed by pushing with drill pipe or coiled tubing (Hardin et al. 2019), or, as demonstrated at a reduced scale with existing downhole tools, a wireline tractor (Muller et al. 2019). The operational feasibility and safety of remote handling emplacement of radioactive materials remains to be demonstrated for all emplacement techniques.

Sealing strategies: Most proposed sealing concepts rely on removing casing from the upper portion of the borehole and emplacing thick sequences of packed bentonite clay supported and isolated by concrete plugs (Arnold et al. 2011; Bates et al. 2014). Vertical emplacement concepts also call for concrete "bridge plugs" between zones of multiple waste packages to reduce vertical loads on the lower packages and prevent crushing during the operational period. Achievement of exceptionally low-permeability permanent seals has been proposed by introducing sufficient heat into the borehole to melt the seal material and surrounding host rock (Gibb and Travis 2015). Available system-level analyses suggest, however, that robust isolation can be achieved without rock melting (Freeze et al. 2019; Deep Isolation 2020).



CANDIDATE WASTES FOR DEEP BOREHOLE DISPOSAL

Worldwide, multiple types of radioactive wastes may be candidates for deep borehole disposal, including the following:

- Spent nuclear fuel from existing light water reactors (LWR) used for electric power generation. This waste form represents the largest single component by volume and radioactivity of the world's high-activity radioactive waste requiring deep geologic disposal; much of it, however, may not be a good candidate for borehole disposal because of geometric considerations. Typical pressurized water reactor (PWR) assemblies, which account for nearly three-quarters of the world's spent fuel inventory, have diagonal cross-sections of 300 mm or more. With packaging and casing, direct disposal of intact PWR assemblies would require borehole diameters beyond what is typically available with current drilling practices at proposed disposal depths for spent fuel. Russian-designed water-water energetic reactor (VVER) assemblies are comparable in size to other PWR assemblies, so similar constraints for borehole disposal apply. Typical boiling water reactor (BWR) assemblies are smaller and with packaging and casing could fit into a 445-mm-diameter borehole, with disposal limited to a single assembly per waste package. In principle, LWR fuel rods could be removed from their assemblies and consolidated into smaller-diameter packages to support borehole disposal, but this would require additional facilities for waste-handling operations.
- Spent fuel from Canada Deuterium Uranium (CANDU) reactors. Given the small size of individual CANDU fuel bundles, with typical diameters between 82 and 102 mm, this waste form is a good candidate for borehole disposal, particularly for programs that have a relatively small inventory of spent fuel.
- Vitrified high-level radioactive waste (HLW) from reprocessing spent nuclear fuel. Most existing vitrified waste worldwide is in cylinders of 430 mm or more in diameter (e.g., US vitrified HLW at the Savannah River and West Valley sites is in canisters that are 610 mm in diameter [Peters et al. 2020] and vitrified HLW from La Hague in France is in 430 mm diameter canisters [ANDRA 2005]), which exceeds interior casing diameters for boreholes currently drilled to depths of three or more kilometers. The robust properties of vitrified waste could potentially support disposal at shallower depths where construction of larger-diameter boreholes is routine. Analysis and testing are needed to evaluate the feasibility of borehole disposal of vitrified wastes.
- High-activity sealed radioactive sources. Disused sealed radioactive sources are already being disposed of in intermediate-depth boreholes worldwide and remain an excellent candidate for borehole disposal (IAEA 2011). For programs with a small total inventory of high-activity radioactive waste requiring deep geologic disposal, it could make sense to include disused sealed radioactive sources in the inventory for deep borehole disposal.



- Spent fuel from research or isotope production reactors. Depending on reactorspecific geometry, spent fuel from civilian nonpower reactors is a good candidate for deep borehole disposal.
- Spent fuel from advanced reactors. For the purposes of this discussion, advanced reactors include both small modular reactors based on LWR designs and new designs (i.e., "Gen IV" reactors) based on a range of proposed technologies. Given that nearly all proposed advanced reactor concepts have already existed as prototype experimental reactors, the characteristics of this waste form are broadly understood. The most important consideration for disposing of it in a deep borehole is likely its geometric properties (i.e., spent fuel dimensions). Fuel forms that pose significant operational handling risks, such as those incorporating spontaneously reactive metallic sodium, are unlikely to be good candidates for borehole disposal without treatment (SNL 2014).
- Defense-related wastes other than vitrified HLW. Countries with active nuclear defense programs may have wastes that are suitable for deep borehole disposal and there may be circumstances in which borehole disposal could be preferred to commingling defense materials with civilian wastes or waiting for a civilian repository to become available.



DESIGNING A BOREHOLE RD&D PROJECT WITH BROAD INTERNATIONAL RELEVANCE

An RD&D project could efficiently address research gaps associated with deep borehole disposal with a two-phase field-testing program done entirely with nonradioactive surrogate waste materials. The test program described here is similar to one proposed by the US DOE in 2015 but never completed (US DOE 2015; SNL 2016; NWTRB 2016; Kuhlman et al. 2019), except in two important respects. First, the new program explicitly decouples the two phases of the test in both time and location, with the first phase focused on engineering feasibility and the second focused on identifying and characterizing suitable host rocks (reversing the order proposed by the US DOE). The two phases are described here as if they were to be performed sequentially, but there is no compelling reason why they could not be performed in parallel. They do not need to be done in the same location and, in fact, decoupling them geographically may have the advantage of allowing for the characterization of multiple rock types. Importantly from the perspective of international collaboration, testing could be done in multiple countries, with individual national programs taking the lead in hosting portions of the program. For example, a test of engineering feasibility could be designed and implemented in a country with a significant oil and gas drilling industry, while rock characterization tests could be done in another country with specific interests in potential host media. The decoupling of the two phases also has the potential to help alleviate, at least for the first phase, the loss of trust in some potential host communities that resulted in major setbacks for the US DOE program before its termination.

Second, and as indicated already, the project described here would specifically be designed to encourage international collaboration, increasing its value for programs outside the US, while retaining benefits for the US nuclear waste disposal program. Indeed, a comparable collaborative endeavor for the disposal of long-lived intermediate-level waste already exists at the technical level, without participation from the US DOE. An Australian Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO), Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organization (ANSTO), and Sandia National Laboratories international partnership, supported by regional experts from the Pacific Rim Spent Fuel Management Partnership, is working toward the execution of a full-scale borehole RD&D project in Australia (Mallants et al. 2021).

Phase 1: The Engineering Feasibility Demonstration Test

Phase 1 of the borehole RD&D project would focus on constructing a single largediameter (nominally 445 mm at depth) test hole for demonstrating technologies for borehole completion, remote emplacement and retrieval of surrogate (i.e., nonradioactive) waste packages, and permanent borehole sealing. Testing engineering feasibility should be a relatively straightforward extension of technologies that already exist in the drilling and nuclear industries, but it should not be viewed as trivial, in part because emplacement operations must meet nuclear industry expectations and regulatory requirements for reliability and safety.



A vertical test hole is recommended to enable evaluation of the most straightforward and widely applicable design concepts. To reduce costs, the test hole does not need to be drilled to the full depth proposed for all disposal concepts; it must, however, be deep enough to allow high confidence that the same technologies could be used at greater depths. The test hole does not need to be drilled in a site that might ultimately be used for disposal; in fact, as mentioned previously, selecting a site known a priori to be unsuitable for disposal for any reason can reassure host communities of the project's focus on research. The goal of this phase of the project is not to find suitable host rocks or a potential disposal site. Rather, it is to demonstrate that the technology could be deployed if and when a site is found. Individual components of Phase 1 should be designed by participating programs to ensure transferability of results to a broad range of waste-form-specific disposal concept designs. Research on suitable waste forms, including geometry and physical characteristics, could be done in parallel within participating programs to help inform the design of the field test.

Phase 2: The Host Rock Characterization Test

Phase 2 of the borehole RD&D project would focus on drilling one or more boreholes in potentially suitable host rocks at one or more locations. Currently available data from deep boreholes do not, in general, come from sites that are specifically chosen because of their potential to be favorable for disposal and sites with favorable conditions at depth remain to be identified (Krall et al. 2020). Rock characterization tests can be completed most effectively in small-diameter holes (e.g., 203 mm in diameter at full depth) that would be significantly less expensive to construct than the large-diameter hole needed for the engineering feasibility test. Multiple holes in different rock types at different locations (perhaps hosted by different national programs) would allow for evaluating a range of concepts proposed for various waste forms. Research to develop improved techniques for downhole rock and fluid characterization in low-permeability media could be carried out in parallel within participating programs to help inform the design of the field test. All characterization test holes should be drilled to the full depth proposed for the relevant disposal concept, and if suitable rock is found, these locations could become candidate sites to be considered for disposal operations. Because of the relatively small diameter of the characterization boreholes, however, they would be unsuitable for disposal of most waste forms. Should a participating program choose to proceed to disposal operations after reviewing results from both phases of the project, full-diameter holes would need to be constructed and rock suitability reevaluated.

The two-phase RD&D project described here could offer a wide range of benefits to international participants. The demonstration of engineering feasibility at a single location could be completed with participation from multiple international programs and insights from the demonstration would be readily transferable to a broad range of locations and borehole concepts. All participants could benefit equally.

With respect to the Phase 2 rock characterization tests, drilling of lower-cost narrow-diameter host rock characterization holes could be tailored to specific disposal concepts that can



benefit all participants while furthering individual national goals. Insights would be most applicable to the specific locations and rock types that were tested, providing an incentive for participants to propose tests in their own candidate rock types. All participants would benefit, however, from the knowledge gained about any rock types evaluated.



APPLICABILITY OF BOREHOLE DISPOSAL

As noted previously, mined repositories remain the best disposal option for countries with large inventories of spent nuclear fuel from power reactors or large amounts of high-level waste from defense programs and/or commercial reprocessing. But borehole disposal could provide meaningful benefits to countries with nascent or small nuclear power programs, particularly those with limited financial, institutional, technical, and/or geographic resources. Borehole disposal also has the potential to make a significant contribution to regional and international security.

Sociopolitical and Economic Considerations

Because boreholes can be drilled using off-the-shelf oilfield technology, the concept may prove relatively straightforward to describe to potential host communities that will, presumably, be largely comprised of nonengineers. By relying primarily on strong natural barriers, particularly if situated in very low-permeability rock, it depends less on long-lived waste forms and robust waste canisters (i.e., engineered barriers) compared to other disposal concepts. A borehole's surface footprint could be as small as an area with a radius of perhaps 1-2 km around the borehole itself, allowing for on-site waste-handling facilities, equipment for downhole emplacement operations, and related support facilities, with a security perimeter constituting the outer boundary. This means the overall environmental impact of a single borehole or even a small array of boreholes would be significantly less than that of a repository. The smaller surface footprint and minimal geological disturbance created by a small repository may also translate to a wider choice of potential candidate sites, which in turn may increase the chances of finding a willing host community.

This relative simplicity and small size, at least for a small facility, has the potential to reduce characterization, excavation, disposal operations, closure, and passive long-term monitoring costs compared to a repository. The inherent modularity of borehole disposal also creates a financial advantage for programs that may need more than one borehole to accommodate their inventory. Construction costs for a borehole repository could be incurred on an asneeded basis, avoiding the large up-front costs of a mined facility. In 2009, SNL estimated that one five km borehole with a 445 mm downhole diameter would cost about \$20 million (in 2008 dollars), not including emplacement operations, licensing, etc., and could take about 110 days to construct (Brady et al. 2009). Construction costs and timelines depend on the details of the design concept and will vary from country to country and geology to geology, but enabling earlier access to disposal facilities will reduce spent fuel and HLW storage costs. Licensing, however, may be costly and the process time-consuming, particularly if the regulator has a small staff and little to no experience with this technology.

Security and Nonproliferation Considerations

Despite decades of effort worldwide to construct repositories and thorough documentation of the financial burdens and sociopolitical complexities associated with the failure to



permanently dispose of spent fuel and HLW, these wastes remain in temporary storage above ground (see BRC 2012 and Bowen 2021 on the US case). Specific to security and nonproliferation concerns, the reasons for disposing of spent fuel underground remain unchanged and the goals remain unmet worldwide. The benefits of drilling deep and getting spent fuel/HLW underground sooner rather than later are magnified in politically unstable regions of the world.

In a once-through fuel cycle, spent fuel needs to be securely stored for extended periods of time until it has cooled sufficiently for disposal. Given that the allowable thermal and radiation limits for transportation are often substantially lower than those for storage, increasingly high-burn-up fuel and large dry storage canisters require an extended period of aging before the canisters have cooled enough to be moved. In most countries, it will be decades before repositories are open and able to accept waste in sufficient quantities to begin to significantly draw down the inventory. The longer spent fuel is stored, the more the shorter-lived, "selfprotecting" isotopes decay and the less radioactive it becomes, the greater the security risk that it presents. In light of the demonstrated willingness of some nonstate actors to disregard self-preservation in the pursuit of their objectives, the current self-protection standardone gray/hour at one meter unshielded, a threshold used by the US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, DOE, and IAEA-might not be sufficient to deter the unauthorized removal of material (NRC 2015). However, unless the objective is on-site radiological dispersal by breaching a pool or dry cask, the operational and technical complexities of acquiring spent fuel rods or assemblies, transporting them off-site, and then fabricating an improvised nuclear device suggest that the most plausible nonstate theft scenarios would present at facilities where security has completely broken down.

In addition, spent fuel contains plutonium—approximately 1 percent by weight—that can be separated by chemical or metallurgical processes to make mixed oxide (MOX) fuel or to build nuclear weapons. Because the production or acquisition of fissile material is the biggest challenge for a state developing nuclear weapons or a nonstate actor developing an improvised nuclear explosive device, the separation and stockpiling of plutonium poses real proliferation and security risks.

For a variety of reasons, some countries have chosen to reprocess their spent fuel domestically or abroad. The purpose of doing so is primarily to separate the plutonium and then recycle it as MOX fuel. However, Japan's accumulation of 46.1 tons of separated plutonium as of the end of 2020 (8.9 tons stored domestically and 37.2 tons stored in the UK and France) is a reminder of the risks of reprocessing decoupled from either the use of the recovered material as new reactor fuel or a disposal pathway (Japan Office of Atomic Energy Policy 2021). Other countries have defaulted to foreign reprocessing, often with an agreement that the high-level waste will be returned at a future date, which is a way of buying time to find a long-term storage and/or disposal solution. The Taiwan Power Company, for example, tried unsuccessfully in February 2015 to have a relatively small batch of spent fuel reprocessed overseas, with the vitrified high-level waste to be returned 20 years later, to prevent one of its power plants from running out of pool storage capacity (Newman 2021). If boreholes prove viable technically, economically, and politically in countries where they may be preferable to mined repositories, getting spent fuel into the ground more quickly could further



disincentivize reprocessing and thus reduce opportunities for state or nonstate diversion, theft, or sabotage.

Spent fuel disposed of in a borehole or mined repository is, by definition, "retrievable" from a nonproliferation perspective in the sense that, given time and resources, some portion of the radioactive material could be brought back to the surface. However, drilling back into a plugged borehole to retrieve spent fuel is expensive, time-consuming, and extremely difficult to conceal from outside observation. Boreholes will likely be easier and cheaper to safeguard than repositories and other methods of either eliminating plutonium (such as transmutation in reactors or accelerators) or recycling for reuse as MOX reactor fuel are more complicated to safeguard and arguably pose greater proliferation risks (Lyman and Feiveson 1998).

Indeed, nuclear facilities can face risks unrelated to attempts to divert radioactive material. For example, during the 1990s at the closed nuclear weapons test site in Semipalatinsk, Kazakhstan, "hundreds of miles of copper cabling and tracks that crisscrossed the test site provided a lure for many out of work Kazakhs. Familiar with the situation at the test site, residents of the city of Kurchatov and the rural settlements surrounding the testing grounds began scavenging the site in search of metal to sell" (Davydov 2014). More dramatically, Russia's shelling and seizure of the Zaporizhzhia nuclear plant in Ukraine in 2022 provides a graphic illustration of the risks of collateral damage to nuclear facilities, reactors, and spent fuel in war zones. Disposal of spent fuel several kilometers down a plugged borehole makes state or nonstate human intrusion or disruption scenarios, whether inadvertent or deliberate, extremely unlikely.



CONCLUSIONS

An RD&D project supported by multiple national nuclear waste disposal programs could inform decision makers worldwide regarding the potential for safe, permanent disposal of high-activity radioactive waste in deep boreholes. The project proposed here involves drilling two or more boreholes in separate locations (and perhaps in separate countries), with a first borehole that demonstrates the engineering feasibility of the concept, accompanied either subsequently or in parallel by one or more separate rock characterization holes. The latter holes can help to advance the fundamental science underlying deep borehole disposal concepts and demonstrate the ability to find and characterize potentially suitable rock types at appropriate depths. Deep borehole disposal research can produce first-of-a-kind information that would be available to all interested parties worldwide and provide participating programs with an opportunity to plan and implement field tests relevant to specific disposal concepts appropriate for their candidate waste forms and available rock types.

This project would also enable countries with relatively small inventories of commercial spent fuel and other high-activity wastes, as well as larger nuclear programs with specialized waste forms not suitable for colocation in a repository, to make informed decisions about the costeffectiveness, safety, security, and timeliness of boreholes as a primary or complementary disposal method. As a world leader in nuclear waste disposal RD&D and commercial oil and gas drilling as well as an architect of the nuclear nonproliferation regime and efforts to strengthen global nuclear security, the United States is uniquely positioned to help steward an international research program, including by providing critical technology and expertise. Such an international borehole initiative could help lead to a disposal pathway for a small, specialized portion of the US DOE waste inventory and promote US global nuclear safety and security goals.



REFERENCES

ANDRA (Agence Nationale Pour la Gestion des Déchets Radioactifs). 2005. *Dossier 2005 Argile Synthesis: Evaluation of the Feasibility of a Geological Repository in an Argillaceous Formation, Meuse/Haute-Marne Site.*

Arnold, B. W., P. V. Brady, S. J. Bauer, C. Herrick, et al. 2011. *Reference Design and Operations for Deep Borehole Disposal of High-Level Radioactive Waste.* SAND2011-6749, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Bates, E. A., M. J. Driscoll, J. Buongiorno. 2011. "Drop-in Concept for Deep Borehole Canister Emplacement." *Proceedings of the 13th International High-Level Radioactive Waste Management Conference.* Albuquerque, NM. April 10–14, 2011, American Nuclear Society, Chicago, IL.

Bates, E. A., A. Salazar, M. J. Driscoll, E. Baglietto, et al. 2014. "Plug Design for Deep Borehole Disposal of High-Level Nuclear Waste." *Nuclear Technology* v. 188, 280–291.

Beswick, J., F. G. F. Gibb, and K. P. Travis. 2014. "Deep borehole disposal of nuclear waste: Engineering challenges in energy." 167 (EN2). *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers.* Paper 1300016, 47–66.

Blue Ribbon Commission on America's Nuclear Future (BRC). 2012. *Report to the Secretary of Energy*. 158. <u>https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2013/04/f0/brc_finalreport_jan2012.pdf</u>.

Bowen, M. 2021. Forging a Path Forward on US Nuclear Waste Management: Options for Policy Makers. Columbia University/SIPA Center on Global Energy Policy, 70.

Brady, P. V., B. W. Arnold, G. A. Freeze, P. N. Swift, et al. 2009. *Deep Borehole Disposal of High-Level Radioactive Waste*. SAND2009-4401, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Brady, P. V., G. A. Freeze, K. L. Kuhlman, E. L. Hardin, et al. 2017. "Deep borehole disposal of nuclear waste: US perspective." In Apted, M., and J. Ahn, eds., *Geological Repository Systems for Safe Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuels and Radioactive Waste*. Woodhead Publishing, 89-112.

Cochran, J. R., W. E. Beyeler, D. A. Brosseau, L. H. Brush, et al. 2001. *Compliance Assessment Document for the Transuranic Wastes in the Greater Confinement Disposal Boreholes at the Nevada Test Site. Volume 2: Performance Assessment.* SAND2001-2977, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Crichlow, H. B. 1998. "Method of Disposing of Nuclear Waste in Underground Rock Formations." United States Patent 5850614.

Davydov, J. 2014. "Bomb in Your Backyard: Securing Plutonium on the Kazakh Steppe." James Martin Center for Nonproliferation Studies. February 12, 2014. <u>https://nonproliferation.org/bomb-in-your-backyard-securing-plutonium-on-the-kazakh-steppe/</u>.



Deep Isolation. 2020. Spent Nuclear Fuel Disposal in a Deep Horizontal Drillhole Repository Sited in Shale: Numerical Simulations in Support of a Generic Post-Closure Safety Analysis. Rev. 00, DI-2020-01-R0, Deep Isolation, Inc., Berkeley, CA, USA, 149. <u>https://www.</u> <u>deepisolation.com/technology/safety-calculations/</u>.

Freeze, G., E. Stein, P. V. Brady, C. Lopez, et al. 2019. Deep Borehole Disposal Safety Case. SAND2019-1925, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Gibb, F. G. F., and N. A. McTaggart. 2008. "High-Density Support Matrices: Key to the Deep Borehole Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuel." *Journal of Nuclear Materials*. vol. 374. 370–377.

Gibb, F. G. F., and K. P. Travis. 2015. "Sealing Deep Borehole Disposals of Radioactive Waste by "Rock Welding,"" *proceedings of the IHLRWM (International High Level Radioactive Waste Management Conference*, Charleston, SC, April 12–16, 2015.

Gibbs, J. S., J. Buongiorno, and M. J. Driscoll. 2011. "A Multibranch Borehole Approach to HLW Disposal." *Proceedings of the International High-Level Radioactive Waste Management Conference*. Albuquerque, NM, USA. April 10–14, 2011.

Hardin, E. L., A. Clark, J. Su, and F. Peretz. 2019. *Preclosure Risk Assessment for Deep Borehole Disposal*. SAND2019-1827, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA. 197.

IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency). 2011. *BOSS: Borehole Disposal of Disused Sealed Sources: A Technical Manual*. IAEA-TECDOC-1644, 106.

Japan Office of Atomic Energy Policy. *The Status Report of Plutonium Management in Japan–2020*. July 9, 2021. <u>http://www.aec.go.jp/jicst/NC/iinkai/teirei/siryo2021/siryo21/2_haifu.pdf</u>.

Juhlin, C., and H. Sandstedt. 1989. *Storage of Nuclear Waste in Very Deep Boreholes: Feasibility Study and Assessment of Economic Potential. Part I: Geological Considerations. Part II: Overall Facility Plan and Cost Analysis.* Svensk Karnbranslehantering AB.

Kedrovskii, O. L., A. I. Rybal'chenko, M. K. Pimenov, P. P. Kostin, et al. 1990. Deep Burial of Liquid Radioactive Waste in Porous Geologic Formations. *Atomnaya Energiya*. 70(5). 298–303. (Translated by the All-Union Scientific-Research and Design Institute for Industry and Technology. Ministry of Nuclear Power Plants and Enterprises of the USSR. Scientific-Research Institute of Nuclear Radiation. Institute of Physical Chemistry, Academy of Sciences of the USSR, 1991.)

Krall, L., T. McCartin, and A. Macfarlane. 2020. "Siting Deep Boreholes for Disposal of Radioactive Waste: Consequences for Tight Coupling Between Natural and Engineered Systems." Environmental Science and Technology, v. 54. 629–646.

Kuhlman, K. L., E. L. Hardin, and M. J. Rigali. 2019. *Deep Borehole Laboratory and Borehole Testing Strategy: Generic Drilling and Testing Plan.* SAND2019-1896. Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Lyman, E., and H. Feiveson. 1998. "The Proliferation Risks of Plutonium Mines." *Science & Global Security*. Vol. 7. January 1998. 120.



Mallants, D., Y. Beiraghdar, C. Doblin, L. Esteban, et al. 2021. "Deep borehole disposal of intermediate-level waste: progress from Australia's RD&D project." *Proceedings of the INMM & ESARD Joint Virtual Annual Meeting*. August 23–26 and August 30–September 1, 2021.

Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). 2003. The Future of Nuclear Power. 180.

Muller, R. A., S. Finsterle, J. Grimsich, R. Baltzer, et al. 2019. "Disposal of High-Level Nuclear Waste in Deep Horizontal Drillholes." *Energies*, v. 12. 2052.

National Academy of Sciences (NAS). 1957. *The Disposal of Radioactive Waste on Land, Report of the Committee on Waste Disposal of the Division of Earth Sciences*. National Academy of Sciences National Research Council. Washington, DC, USA. 142.

Newman, A. 2021. "Managing the Back-End of the Nuclear Fuel Cycle: Lessons for New and Emerging Nuclear Power Users from the United States, South Korea and Taiwan." *Journal of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Technology*. Vol. 19, No. 4. 439–441.

Osnes, J. D., C. A. Vining, J. R. Nopola, and W. M. Roggenthen. 2015. *Rock Melt Borehole Sealing System*. Final Technical Report for SBIR Phase 1 Grant No. DE-SC0011888, Report number DOE-RESPEC-0011888, RESPEC report RSI-2508, prepared for the Department of Energy by RESPEC, Inc., Rapid City, SD, USA.

Peters, S., D. Vinson, and J. T. Carter. 2020. *Spent Nuclear Fuel and Reprocessing Waste Inventory*. FCRD-NFST-2013-000263, Rev. 7. <u>https://sti.srs.gov/fulltext/FCRD-NFST-2013-000263_R7.pdf</u>.

Sandia National Laboratories (SNL). 2014. Evaluation of Options for Permanent Geologic Disposal of Used Nuclear Fuel and High-Level Radioactive Waste Inventory in Support of a Comprehensive National Nuclear Fuel Cycle Strategy. FCRD-UFD-2013-000371, SAND2014-0187P; SAND2014-0189P, Revision 1, Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA.

Sandia National Laboratories (SNL). 2016. *Deep Borehole Field Test Conceptual Design Report*. FCRD-UFD-2016-000070 Revision 1, SAND2016-1024R, US Department of Energy, Office of Used Nuclear Fuel Disposition.

Schneider, K. J. and A. M. Platt. 1974. *High Level Radioactive Waste Management Alternatives*. BNWL-1900, Pacific Northwest National Laboratories, Richland, WA, USA.

Stow, S. H., and C. S. Haase. 1986. "Subsurface disposal of liquid low-level radioactive wastes at Oak Ridge, Tennessee." *Groundwater Monitoring and Remediation* V. 6. 49–52.

US Department of Energy (US DOE). 1980. *Final Environmental Impact Statement, Management of Commercially Generated Radioactive Waste*. DOE/EIS-0046F, Washington, DC: US Department of Energy.

US Department of Energy (US DOE). 2008. *The Report to the President and the Congress by the Secretary of Energy on the Need for a Second Repository*. DOE/RW-0595. 16.

US Department of Energy (US DOE). 2014. Assessment of Disposal Options for DOE-Managed High-Level Radioactive Waste and Spent Nuclear Fuel.



US Department of Energy (US DOE). 2015. Request for Proposals (RFP)-Deep Borehole Field Test (July 9, 2015) Solicitation Number DE-SOL-0008071. US Department of Energy Idaho Operations Office, Idaho Falls, ID, USA.

US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). 2015. Rulemaking for Enhanced Security of Special Nuclear Material. January 2015. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1432/ML14321A007.pdf</u>.

US Nuclear Waste Technical Review Board. 2016. *Technical Evaluation of the US Department of Energy Deep Borehole Disposal Research and Development Program*. Report to the US Congress and the Secretary of Energy, Arlington, VA, USA.





